STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

01-03-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP1897-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs.-

MORGAN E. GEYSER,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FEBRUARY 1, 2018, ORDER OF COMMITMENT, FILED IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN, PRESIDING.
WAUKESHA COUNTY CASE NO. 2014CF596

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX

Respectfully submitted by:

Matthew S. Pinix, 1064368

PINIX & SOUKUP, LLC 1200 East Capitol Drive, Suite 360 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211 T: 414.963.6164 F: 414.967.9169 matthew@pinixsoukup.com www.pinixsoukup.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

First Issue: Jurisdiction

Morgan E. Geyser was barely twelve-years-old when she and a friend attempted to kill another young girl. Geyser undertook that attempted killing in part to protect her and her family from what the circuit court found was her clear fear of death. The State of Wisconsin charged her with attempted first-degree intentional homicide, which automatically conferred adult-court jurisdiction. The matter thus proceeded in adult court.

At a subsequent preliminary hearing, Geyser argued that she did not commit attempted *first*-degree intentional homicide, but rather attempted *second*-degree intentional homicide. The latter crime cannot be prosecuted in adult court when committed by a child. Consistent with the rules governing preliminary hearings for children originally in adult court, Geyser adduced physical evidence and witness testimony establishing that her homicidal act was motivated by her belief that she had to kill lest she or her family be killed.

The circuit court found as a matter of fact that Geyser acted under the actual belief that she was protecting herself and her family from death. In other words, the circuit court found facts establishing the affirmative defense that mitigates first-degree intentional homicide to second-degree. Nonetheless, the circuit court bound her over for trial in adult court because it found that she also acted for reasons other than self-defense.

Statement of the issue

Whether the circuit court erred in binding Geyser over for trial in adult court when it concluded as a matter of fact that she had established the affirmative mitigation defense to attempted first-degree intentional homicide and adult courts do not have original jurisdiction over attempted second-degree intentional homicide offenses?

The circuit court answered no.

Second Issue: Constitutionality of Statement

Geyser was arrested shortly after her crime. Over the next seven and a half hours, she made multiple custodial statements to law enforcement. Some of her statements occurred before she was given *Miranda* warnings, and some followed. At no point before police finished interrogating her did they allow her to talk with her parents, even though they had come to the station to check on her.

Three weeks after Geyser's statements to police, she was deemed incompetent to stand trial by two evaluators. Her incompetence was based on her age, her unfamiliarity with the legal system and attendant rights, and her severe mental illness. As those evaluators explained, she simply did not understand the basic elements of her legal rights to even know how an attorney might help her. It was not until five months after Geyser's custodial statements—during which time she was purposefully educated as to the legal system and her rights within it—that Geyser could understand the basics of her rights.

Statement of the issue

Whether a barely twelve-year-old, severely mentally ill person who is disallowed parental support during a custodial interrogation, suffering from active delusions, and hours earlier attempted to kill under the true belief that it would protect her from a fictitious character can knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive the constitutional rights to which she is entitled in a criminal proceeding when, still three weeks later, she is found not to understand those basic rights?

The circuit court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Geyser's case presents unique facts and infrequently occurring legal questions. Oral argument and publication are both appropriate, and she requests them.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Twelve-year-old Morgan Geyser tried to kill her best friend because she believed that, if she did not, Slender Man would kill her or her family. (R.326:168.)

Slender Man is a fictional character born to the internet during a 2009 contest calling for the creation of paranormal images.¹ Slender Man, Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Slender_Man (last visit Dec. 17, 2018). A participant in that contest uploaded two images of children that included "a tall, thin, spectral figure wearing a black suit." Id. Fake quotes referencing killing and the kidnapping of children accompanied those pictures and named the character. *Id.* In less than a year, what had been a single person's contribution to a photoshop contest became a canon of artistic creation from numerous sources comprised of written stories, images, memes, and even a YouTube channel. *Id.*; see also Marble Hornets, https://www.youtube.com/user/ MarbleHornets (last visit Dec. 17, 2018).

Four years later, eleven-year-old Anissa Weier would introduce Geyser to the Slender Man legend. (R.327:37, R.326:95.) Geyser, too, was eleven-years-old.

3

¹ The name of that fictional character is stylized throughout the record as both "Slender Man" and "Slenderman." In quotation to the record, no alteration is made. However, in original text, this brief uses "Slender Man," consistent with the character's original appellation.

(*See* R.327:37.) And, she was suffering from an early onset psychotic disorder. (R.331:27.)

When Geyser was a toddler, she thought that a man bearing some similarity to Slender Man's character had visited her. (R.43:5.) When she "saw the Slender Man silhouette, . . . she recognized that as [the] man who had visited her throughout the years [since] she was three or four." (R.355:180-81.) Of course, Slender Man had never actually visited Geyser; the interactions were a hallucination and a byproduct of her mental illness. (R.43:3.) But Geyser's mental illness was then unknown, and undiagnosed, untreated. (R.331:42-43.) hallucinations persisted throughout her youth, and Geyser came to accept them as reality. (R.331:38-39.) She thus was ill-equipped for her first encounter with the Slender Man legend and unable to understand the character as fictional. (R.327:27.) To Geyser, Slender Man was real. (Id.) Her continuing encounters with the legend's various internet iterations did nothing to stifle that belief. (See id.) After all, much of the internet lore about Slender Man takes the form of first-person found footage detailing accounts and real-life experiences with Slender Man. See, e.g., Marble Hornets, Entry # 1, (available at https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=Bn59FJ4HrmU) (last visit Dec. 17, 2018).

Geyser became obsessed with Slender Man. (R.326:21-22.) She talked about him constantly. (*Id.*:53, 66-67.) She printed out articles and pictures and showed them to people to try to convince them of his existence. (*Id.*:67.) She drew the Slender Man symbol on her Barbies. (R.327:84-86, R.75.) She kept entire notebooks at home and at school devoted to the subject. (R.326:39, 52, R.327:88-91, R.77-R.83.) She secreted away frightening, self-made Slender Man art. (R.327:91-102, R.62-R.68, R.83-R.93.) And, she came to possess two dangerous and nearly fatal ideas.

First, she wanted to become Slender Man's proxy, which is like a member of his group. (R.329:40.) To accomplish that, Geyser would have to murder someone. (*Id.*) Second, Geyser believed that if she did not do what Slender Man wanted—namely to kill to become his proxy—he would, in turn, kill her or her family. (*Id.*:40-41.) If she displeased him, he could kill her and her family almost instantaneously; he could kill you in as little as three seconds. (R.326:113.)

Motivated by those two beliefs, Geyser conspired with Weier to kill PL. (R.329:40-41.) Geyser first met PL in the fourth grade, and the two became close friends. (R.326:20, 180.) In sixth grade, Geyser introduced PL to Weier, with whom Geyser had become friends. (*Id.*:22.) The day after the three girls had celebrated Geyser's twelfth birthday party, Geyser and Weier took PL to some nearby woods where they repeatedly stabbed her with a kitchen knife. (*Id.*:23, 32-33.) Afterward, Geyser and Weier set off on a trek to find and join Slender Man, intending to abandon their families for a life in the north woods. (*Id*.:98.) Their plan—which underscored the severity of Geyser's mental illness—was to hike more than three hundred miles to the Nicolet National Forest to find Slender Man and join him in his mansion. (See id.) The two girls did not know precisely where they would find the mansion, but the finer points of their plan became irrelevant when sheriff's deputies found them hiding in some tall grass near the freeway and arrested them. (R.344:12.) It was 2:15 in the afternoon. (*Id*.:49-50.)

At the officers' direction, the two girls came out of the tall grass and surrendered. (*Id.*:13.) They were immediately taken into custody. (*See id.*:13-14.) A uniformed officer handcuffed Geyser and took her to the back of his squad car. (*Id.*:14-16, 29, 36.) After a few questions, the officer "read [Geyser] her *Miranda* warning" from a standard issue departmental form. (*Id.*:16-17; *see also* R.204.) When the officer asked whether Geyser understood her rights, "she replied, Uh-huh."

(R.344:17.) Her response was "more of a grunt" than an actual answer, and so the officer pressed her: "Do you understand your rights; I need a yes or no, not just an utterance." (Id.:17-18.) After the fully-uniformed, armed officer who towered over Geyser and held her handcuffed by the side of the road ordered her to do better with her answers, she answered "yes" each time he asked whether she understood her rights. (*Id.*:14, 17-18, 36.) On subsequent questioning, Geyser told the officer that "[she] and another girl had stabbed a girl and they were forced to stab her." (Id.:19.) The officer then put Geyser in his squad car and drove her to the police department. (*Id.*:21.) She made no additional statements to that officer, but "she made utterances," including one about "going to the Kettle Moraine Forest to live with . . . Slender Man." (*Id.*:21-22.) At no time did Geyser ask for an attorney or for her parents to be present. (*Id.*:57-58.) According to the officer, "[s]he was 100 percent cooperative." (Id.)

At 4:05 p.m. — nearly two hours after her arrest and transport to the police department — Geyser was taken to "a very bare," "ten feet by ten feet" room with nothing in it other than "a table and two chairs." (*Id.*:69-70.) Geyser would ultimately remain in that barren room for another "five and a half hours." (*Id.*:82.) In the beginning, a police officer "stood by with her." (*Id.*:70-71.) But, for about "two and a half hours of dead time[,] . . . she was sitting there by herself." (*Id.*:83, 96-97.)

Not once within the seven and a half hours between her arrest and completed confession was Geyser allowed to talk with her parents. (*Id.*:83, 96-97.) In fact, police never even offered her that opportunity. (R.326:186-87.) According to the interrogating detective, it simply "wasn't an option;" no such offer would ever be made. (R.326:186-87.) Of course, Geyser's parents were worried. (*Id.*:187.) They came to the station during her interrogation. (R.344:91-92.) But the interrogating detective came out and told them merely "that [his] goal

was to get [Geyser] some help." (R.326:186-87, R.344:91-92.). He failed to mention that he was interrogating their daughter to prove that she tried to kill PL. (*See id.*)

Back in the interview room, the detective read Geyser her Miranda warnings from the standard form. (R.344:74-75; R.208.) The form includes a line that reads, "Understanding the above rights, are you willing to speak with me?" (R.208.) Geyser initialed next to that statement and signed below it. (Id.) But she was hesitant to do so; "[s]he wanted to know why she had to sign." (R.344:76.) The detective told her that her signature would show people that she "sort of understood it." (R.362 NERI at 34:13-34:43.)² It would be proof that they had "talked about" the form and "couldn't switch anything or change anything later." (R.344:76, NERI at 34:13-34:43.) By signing it, he said, she would be "acknowledging, 'Yeah this is what [he] said to [her] and this is what [she] underst[oo]d." (NERI at 34:13-34:43.) He did not tell her that signing the form would indicate that she understood her rights and was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily giving them up. (R.344:76.) For her part, Geyser did not question the detective about any of her rights; her twelve-year-old friend Weier had told her about them before. (NERI at 33:53-34:09.) According to the detective, Geyser "was willing to waive [her] rights and speak to [him]," and so the interrogation commenced. (R.344:76.)

As would later come out during competency proceedings, Geyser did not fully understand the legal system or how it applied to her even three weeks *after* she signed the *Miranda* form. (R.322:52.) "Within the moments" of her competency evaluation's commencement, "Geyser evidenced poor insight into her mental health *as well as into her legal situation.*" (*Id.*:62

² The recording of Geyser's statement was transmitted by the circuit court as a Non-Electronic Record Item (NERI) and not assigned a record number. (R.362.) It is hereinafter cited to as (NERI at HH:MM:SS).

(emphasis added).) She had no prior experience with the criminal justice system. (*Id.*:55.) She was "seemingly not understanding the severity of the situation that she [was] in." (Id.) She knew generally about the court, the prosecutor, and the defense attorney, but she needed a "tutorial and discussions" to "grasp at a basic level what factually those various concepts might mean and how they might apply" to her. (Id.:52-53 (emphasis added).) Even though Geyser could be tutored to understand "several discreet legal concepts," she nonetheless was not—even weeks after custodial three her interviews – "spontaneously familiar with many of the concepts that [the interviewer] asked her about." (*Id.*:55, 72.) Geyser the "developmental maturity" to "truly understand . . . how [an attorney] might be of assistance to her." (*Id.*:76 (emphasis added).)

Geyser's "cognitive and emotional immaturity," as well as "her lack of familiarity and contact with the legal system" rendered her "not competent to proceed." (*Id*.:62, 84.) In other words, she was too young, too inexperienced with the criminal justice system, and too unfamiliar with applicable legal concepts to even "know how [an] attorney might help her in her case." (R.22-7.) She "lack[ed] substantial mental capacity to rationally and factually understand her charge and be of meaningful assistance in her defense." (R.322:62.) Geyser could become competent, but to get there she needed to close the "gaps in her fundamental knowledge of court procedures," including "how those various concepts might apply in her case." (*Id*.:79.)

Further impeding Geyser's competency was her "early onset psychotic disorder." (R.331:27.) When Geyser was questioned by police, she was "impaired" by her "mental illness" but "not consumed" by it. (*Id.*:24-25.) A psychologist who met with Geyser days after she was charged noted that she "appear[ed] distracted" and would "look[] about the room as if listening to something," despite the fact that "there [wa]s no sound."

(*Id.*:37.) Geyser routinely hallucinated that fictional characters were talking to her wherever she went. (*Id.*:38-39.)

That same mental illness allowed Geyser's belief in Slender Man, and soon after her statement to police she told one evaluator "that [Slender Man] is a person who she has a strong bond with, that she idolizes and believes to be real." (R.322:59.) Days after Geyser's statement to police, a psychiatrist noted that her "primary concern was" not her own legal self-interests, but instead "her relationship with Slender Man" and not "angering" him because, "if she somehow upsets Slender Man, not only hers, but her family's lives could be in danger." (R.322:96-97.) That psychiatrist found that Geyser's Slender Man beliefs so impugned her ability to work in her own self-interest that they prevented her from being able "to work effectively with an attorney to defend her own interests." (*Id.*:96.) Her primary motivation was to appease Slender Man rather than to protect herself from any adverse legal consequences—of which she knew little. (Id.:96-97.) Furthermore, she did not understand what it would mean to serve time in prison, thinking that it would not be any big deal. (Id.) Those thought processes—a part of her mental illness—caused her to underappreciate the serious trouble that she was in, even as she was locked in jail. (*Id.*)

It took three months of targeted education for Geyser to understand the legal system, the proceedings, and how to assist in her defense. (R.43:3, 10.) By then, five months had passed since Geyser's statements to police. (*See id.*:10, R.1:1, 4-5.)

But, back on the day of her statements, the interviewing detective saw no problem asking Geyser incriminating questions. (R.344:74.) He thought she was "a very intelligent girl" and that "she'd be able to willingly and knowingly either invoke [her] rights or waive [them]." (*Id.*) At no point did he "observe anything

about [Geyser] that caused [him] to hesitate in going any further." (*Id.*:77.)

The detective started his interview by questioning Geyser regarding innocuous things like the approaching last day of school and her upcoming sixth-grade graduation. (NREI at 29:00-29:04, 29:10-29:18, 29:38-29:40.) Without any mention of the fact that Geyser would surely be kept in custody if she admitted to attempted murder, he asked whether she would graduate and noted that school would be over in a couple of weeks. (*Id.*) At one point, Geyser asked whether her statement would get her arrested, which the detective did not answer. (*Id.* at 45:55-46:09.) She was obviously unaware that she was *already under arrest* and that a criminal case was *already being developed* against her. (*See id.*)

Immediately after the detective did not answer her question about possibly being arrested, Geyser accepted his instruction that what was "important here [wa]s to tell the truth." (*Id.* at 46:11-46:18.) She "kn[e]w that it's important to tell the truth," she explained, because she had once been suspended for taking a mallet to school. (*Id.* at 46:19-46:29.) She seemed to equate the discipline that she received for that incident with the anticipated punitive consequences that may befall her for the incident with PL, and thus justify her talking to police. (*See id.*) On the heels of that equivalence, Geyser launched in to a seemingly uninhibited telling of the stabbing story. (*See, e.g., id.* at 48:42-56:29.)

After completely recounting what occurred, Geyser asked the detective whether she would later "regret giving [him] th[e] information." (*Id.* at 58:20-58:22.) In response, the detective assured her that his "goal" was simply "to try to get [her] some help," to quit her having to re-live PL's agonized screams, and to be sure that she would not "have to worry about hurting anybody anymore." (*Id.* at 58:22-58:33.) To that

explanation, Geyser answered, "OK," and the interrogation continued. (*Id.*) The detective failed to mention that, in addition to the reasons he did give, Geyser's statement would also be used as evidence to prove her commission of one of the most serious felonies in Wisconsin. (*See id.*) When Geyser later apologized to the detective for "putting [him] through all this trouble," he dismissed her concern: "I think that you need some help, somebody to talk to, and trying to sort out some of these things that you've got going on." (*Id.* at 2:59:58-3:00:09.)

After Geyser's confession, the State charged both she and Weier in adult court with attempted first-degree intentional homicide. (R.1.) Despite the girls' age, Wisconsin law required the State to file such charges in adult court. Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(am). The girls' cases tracked together, and the court held a joint a preliminary hearing. (R.326.)

At the two-day preliminary hearing, the State presented evidence from only law enforcement officers. (*See id.*:2-3.) The officer who had taken the victim's statement parroted it into the record, relevantly explaining the victim's identification of Geyser and Weier as her assailants and the circumstances of the stabbing. (*Id.*:17, 23-36.) The officer who found the victim after the stabbing testified about that and the victim's injuries. (*Id.*:77-80.) Then, the detectives who had interviewed Geyser and Weier testified as to the girls' individual confessions. (*Id.*:84-117, 148-76.) With that, the State rested. (*Id.*:220.)

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