### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-22-2019

## COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP1897-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MORGAN E. GEYSER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF COMMITMENT ENTERED IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL O. BOHREN, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7323 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) lloydkd@doj.state.wi.us

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

Casey then told Geyser that he was going to ask her some questions from a form and ask her to sign the bottom of the form. (R. 72:3:Ex.S:34:14–19.) Geyser asked Casey why she had to sign the form. (R. 72:3:Ex. S:34:19–20.) Casey replied, "So that you know you sort of understood it. I mean, you're starting to be a little bit older here. So that we know that we're talking about the same thing. And so that I don't try to switch something." (R. 72:3:Ex. S:34:20–34:40.)

Casey then read Geyser each of her constitutional rights, explaining specifically that she did not have to talk to him. (R. 72:3:Ex. S:35:33–35:50.) He asked her to sign and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Geyser labels the exhibit of the recording of her custodial interview "NERI" for a Non-Electronic Record Item. (Geyser's Br. 7 n.2.) Because the recording was submitted as an exhibit at the preliminary hearing, the State uses the record number from the exhibit list at the preliminary hearing to refer to the recording. (R. 72:3.)

initial the form, which she did. (R. 72:3:Ex. S:35:50–36:47.) When Casey asked why she thought she was at the police station, Geyser then told him that it was because she and Weier ran off after hurting the victim. (R. 72:3:Ex. S:36:36:50–36:58.)

In its ruling, the circuit court acknowledged that it had kept "in mind that at the time of the incident Miss Geyser was 12 years old, was in the 6th grade, had no prior law enforcement contact." (R. 345:13.) The court noted that in every case concerning a defendant's motion arguing she had not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived her rights or made statements to police involuntarily, it must assess the defendant's "[a]ge, education, intelligence, physical and emotional condition, and prior law enforcement experience." (R. 345:15.)

Applying these tenets to Geyser's contention that her confession to Renkas should be suppressed, the court concluded that Geyser made her confession after Renkas had read her her rights and that Renkas had done so "in conformity with law." (R. 345:24.) The court further concluded that Geyser waived those rights and gave Renkas a statement. (R. 345:24.) The court found that there was no evidence of "improper conduct on the part of Lieutenant"

<sup>17</sup> Geyser's statement was not recorded, which the court concluded was acceptable as an exception to the statute governing the admission of juvenile statements because of extenuating public safety concerns. (R. 349:19–24.) See Wis. Stat. § 938.31(3)(c)5. The lack of recording was also acceptable because Geyser made her statement outside of Renkas's squad car. The statute requires that police record juveniles' statements only when they are in a "place of detention," which is defined by statute as particular buildings. Wis. Stat. § 938.195(1)(c), 195(2). That said, the State agrees with the circuit court that the public safety exception in Wis. Stat. § 938.31(3)(c)5. applies and disposes of any argument that Renkas should have instantly brought Geyser to a police station or other facility had he wanted to ask her questions.

Renkas to induce the statement through force, duress, threats, promises." (R. 345:25.) In short, there was no evidence that Geyser's waiver had been anything but knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Moreover, her statements themselves were voluntary.

Turning to Geyser's statements to Casey, the court noted that Casey had spent some time earlier in the day with Geyser's parents and after spending time with Geyser, concluded that she was "articulate and did not lack the ability to understand questions that would be asked of her. (R. 345:26.) She followed along while he read her rights to her, she initialed them, and she said that she understood them. (R. 345:26–27.) The court concluded that the evidence showed that Geyser knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived her rights. (R. 345:27.)

And the court found that there was nothing improper about Casey's interview with Geyser that made her statements involuntary. (R. 345:27.) The court found that in telling Geyser that he would work to get her help in response to her concerns about prison, Casey did not "promise anything to her" or make the interview "coercive or otherwise oppressive." (R. 345:27.)

In conclusion, the court said that the State had met its burden by a preponderance of the evidence that Geyser's statements to the police were admissible. (R. 345:27.) It therefore soundly denied her motion to suppress. (R. 345:27.)

## 2. Geyser knowingly and intelligently waived her constitutional rights.

The Constitution requires that a criminal suspect in custody not be compelled to be a witness against herself. *Colorado v. Spring*, 479 U.S. 564, 574 (1987). "The *Miranda* warnings protect this privilege by ensuring that a suspect knows that he may choose not to talk to law enforcement officers, to talk only with counsel present, or to discontinue

talking at any time." *Id*. A waiver of a suspect's Fifth Amendment rights must be knowing and intelligent and this is accomplished "by requiring that the suspect be fully advised of this constitutional privilege." *Id*.

When a defendant moves to suppress statements that she made to police while in custody, the State is required to show that police gave her *Miranda* warnings. *State v. Jiles*, 2003 WI 66, ¶ 26, 262 Wis. 2d 457, 663 N.W.2d 798. To introduce any statement the defendant made in custody, the State must also show that the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived the rights that *Miranda* protects. *Id*. And the State must satisfy its burden by the preponderance of the evidence. *Id*.

The State established that Geyser knowingly and intelligently waived her *Miranda* rights after both Renkas and Casey read them to her. To both officers, she indicated that she understood her rights and that she wanted to talk to them both. The video evidence in particular shows Geyser as a smart, responsive, calm girl who was capable of understanding the rights explained to her and choosing to talk to Casey and explain to him what had happened. (R. 72:3:Ex. S.) Although Geyser was young and had not had previous experience with law enforcement, the evidence supports the conclusion that the State met its burden to show that she knowingly and intelligently waived her rights.

Geyser argues that the court erred in its decision denying her suppression motion because "she was an extremely mentally ill, barely twelve-year-old girl with no prior experience in the criminal justice system." Geyser argues that she did not "appreciate the seriousness of the legal consequences that might befall her," "[h]er delusional devotion to Slender Man clouded her judgment," "[s]he was more interested in serving Slender Man's bidding than in

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$  Geyser's Br. 27.

helping herself," and it took her months of "targeted education" after the crime for her "to gain sufficient knowledge such that she understood the legal system." <sup>19</sup>

At the outset, the State disputes Geyser's version of these facts. The recording of Geyser's interview with Casey shows Geyser's thorough understanding of the seriousness of her crime and the potential ramifications. For example, she assures Casey that her parents were not involved. (R. 72:3:Ex. S:50:00-50:10.) She explains that the reason she has been arrested was because she and Weier were "careless." (R. 72:3:Ex. S:50:45.) She says, "I knew this would happen. I knew we'd get in trouble." (R. 72:3:Ex. S:50:45-50:49.) She said that they had planned on killing the victim since December 2013, knew that they would do so at Geyser's sleepover party and that "[i]t was a flawless plan, actually." (R. 72:3:Ex. S:51:00–51:24.) Geyser said of the victim, "People who trust you become very gullible and it was sort of sad." (R. 72:3:Ex. S:52:30–52:38.) She volunteered that she felt "no remorse" and that she "still has this idea in [her] head that it was necessary" to kill the victim. (R. 72:3:Ex. S:1:01:00-1:02:00.) Geyser also said that she had thought about what would happen to them after the crime; she explained that while Weier had asked to go home, Geyser said, "No! We're gonna get arrested if we go home." (R. 72:3:Ex. S:1:04:00-1:04:28.) All of this shows that Geyser understood the severity of her actions.

But equally significantly, Geyser did not present sufficient evidence at the suppression hearing to support her current contention that her waiver of her rights unknowing and unintelligent. (R. 190; 345.) She did not present any witnesses at the suppression hearing to opine that Geyser was incapable of knowingly and intelligently waiving her rights. (R. 345.) Neither did she testify that she did not know

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Geyser's Br. 27–28.

or understand what she was agreeing to when she waived her rights and talked to police. (R. 345.)

Against this backdrop, Geyser's arguments that her waiver was not knowing and intelligent is unsupported and seems to suggest no child can knowingly and intelligently choose to waive her rights. But this is not the law.

The *Miranda* knowing-and-intelligent analysis considers age as just one of many factors the court must weigh in assessing the totality of the circumstances surrounding the waiver. *State v. Woods*, 117 Wis. 2d 701, 722, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984). As the circuit court said, the court considers a defendant's age, education, background, conduct, intelligence, and legal experience. *State v. Jones*, 192 Wis. 2d 78, 101, 532 N.W.2d 79 (1995). Here, despite Geyser's youth, mental health problems, and lack of experience with the legal system, the totality of the circumstances show that she was a bright, coherent, capable girl who knowingly and intelligently waived her constitutional rights to silence and counsel.

## 3. Geyser voluntarily confessed to stabbing the victim.

Geyser argues that even if she knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived her constitutional rights, her confession was nonetheless inadmissible because she made it involuntarily.<sup>20</sup> Geyser acknowledges that to establish that statements were involuntary, she must show coercive or improper police conduct.<sup>21</sup> To do so, she relies heavily upon her personal characteristics—her age, mental health, and unfamiliarity with law enforcement. In addition, citing *Jerrell C.J.*, Geyser argues that her custodial interview was too long, her lack of contact with her parents was coercive, and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Geyser's Br. 29–36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Geyser's Br. 21.

Casey's "psychological techniques" made her confession involuntary.<sup>22</sup> Her argument is unpersuasive.

The State may not use an involuntary confession against a defendant in a criminal prosecution. *Miller v. Fenton*, 474 U.S. 104, 109 (1985). As with the knowing and intelligent nature of a defendant's waiver, the circuit court assesses the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession to determine its voluntariness. *See Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973). These circumstances include both the characteristics of the defendant as well as those of the police interview. *Id.* The purpose is to determine whether "the defendant's will was in fact overborne." *Miller*, 474 U.S. at 116. Courts pay particular attention to a child's age when applying the voluntariness test. *See J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 280–81 (2011).

"A defendant's statements are voluntary if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressures brought to bear on the defendant by representatives of the State exceeded the defendant's ability to resist." *State v. Hoppe*, 2003 WI 43, ¶ 36, 261 Wis. 2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407. "Coercive or improper police conduct is a necessary prerequisite for a finding of involuntariness." *Id.* ¶ 37.

For the same reasons that Geyser's age, mental health, and unfamiliarity with the legal system did not make her waiver of rights unknowing or unintelligent, those features did not make her confessions involuntary. But even assuming that Geyser has vulnerable personal characteristics, she has not pointed to any police conduct that exploited those vulnerabilities or that could credibly be characterized as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Gevser's Br. 33.

coercive or improper that made her confession involuntary. Her will was simply not "overborne." *Miller*, 474 U.S. at 116.

In *Jerrell C.J.*, which Geyser relies upon to show her will was overborne and she was coerced into confessing, the court examined "the pressures and tactics used by police during the interrogation." *In re Jerrell C.J.*, 2005 WI 105, ¶ 30, 283 Wis. 2d 145, 599 N.W.2d 110.

First, the court addressed Jerrell's claim that his confession was involuntary because police had denied his request to call his parents. Id. ¶ 30. The court emphasized the importance of police calling a juvenile's parents to tell them about the interview. Id. ¶¶ 30–31. Although the court did not say that this action was per se coercive, it warned that the denial of "Jerrell's requests to talk to his parents [w] as strong evidence of coercive police conduct." Id. ¶ 31.

In contrast, Geyser's parents were at the police station when Geyser was interviewed. (R. 344:91.). And of larger import, Geyser never asked police if she could talk to her parents. (R. 344:57.) Thus, unlike in *Jerrell C.J.*, the police conduct with regard to parental presence bore no sign of impropriety.

Second, the court addressed the length of Jerrell's custody, calling it "an important factor in evaluating police behavior." *Jerrell C.J.*, 283 Wis. 2d 145, ¶ 32. Jerrell had been handcuffed to a wall for two hours and left alone. Id. ¶ 33. And he was then interrogated for over five hours "before finally signing a written confession." Id.

In contrast, here, Geyser was seated in a room without handcuffs, offered food and drink, and kindly asked if everyone had been nice to her that day. (R. 73:2: Ex. S:25:00–25:40.) And after waiving her rights, she immediately confessed to Casey that she had tried to kill the victim. Thus, even if the interview should have ended sooner, her confession was still voluntary.

And finally, the *Jerrell C.J.* court addressed the psychological techniques that the police employed in questioning Jerrell. Id. ¶ 34. The detectives refused "to believe Jerrell's repeated denials of guilt, but they also joined in urging him to tell a different 'truth,' sometimes using a 'strong voice' that 'frightened' him." Id. ¶ 35. Although the court noted that Jerrell did not appear to have any significant mental or emotional problems that would have made him particularly vulnerable to coercion, it remained concern that these types of interview techniques applied to a juvenile "over a prolonged period of time could result in an involuntary confession." Id.

But here, the police employed none of these sorts of techniques. Unlike the officers in *Jerrell C.J.*, Casey asked open-ended questions to allow Geyser to explain what had happened. There is no evidence from which to conclude that Renkas or Casey was anything but kind, calm, and solicitous. Indeed, Geyser does not argue to the contrary. She instead argues that Casey's equanimity was "grooming" behavior. But if an officer's attempt to make a suspect comfortable is unduly coercive, it is unclear how police could ever properly conduct an interview with a child.

Even taking Geyser's personal characteristics together with the nature of the interrogations, Geyser immediately and repeatedly voluntarily confessed to the crime. There was no coercion or improper behavior on the part of police.

### C. Even if the court should have suppressed any of Geyser's statements, the failure to do so was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Finally, any error on the part of the circuit court in declining to suppress any of Geyser's statements is harmless. An error is harmless is if the beneficiary of the error can show that absent the error, the effect of the proceedings would have

been the same. See State v. Nelson, 2014 WI 70, ¶ 44, 355 Wis. 2d 722, 849 N.W.2d 317. Here, any error is surely harmless.

Absent Geyser's own statements, the evidence against her was overwhelming. Like Geyser, Weier had immediately confessed to the crime and its details. More importantly, the victim identified Weier and Geyser as her friends who had tried to kill her. The victim's statements were extensive, detailed, convincing, and beyond reproach. It is not credible to suggest that Geyser would not have entered the pleas that she did had the court suppressed her own inculpatory statements.

### CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's order of commitment.